FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/6/2023 2:00 PM

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83588-2-I SUPREME COURT NO. 102351-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

ADAM BRANTLY MYERS,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

MATTHEW R. PITTMAN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to review the decision designated in part II. The State was plaintiff in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the respondent's (the defendant's) conviction in a published opinion filed June 5, 2023. The Court of Appeals' order denying the State's timely motion for reconsideration was filed August 7, 2023. Appendix A. The order denying additionally ordered the prior opinion to be withdrawn, however, and a substitute published opinion was filed that same date. Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Is the Sixth Amendment per se violated by the use of a law enforcement "filter team" to review and filter seized documents suspected to contain attorney-client privileged materials, even where subsequent judicial review of the team's methodology and efficacy overcome a presumption of prejudice and prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant suffered no actual prejudice?

- 2. Is the Sixth Amendment per se violated, irrespective of prejudice to the defendant, where law enforcement seizes documents suspected to include attorney-client privileged materials for the purpose of subsequent processing out any of the privileged materials by a filter team?
- 3. Does a trial court abuse its discretion in concluding a defendant was not prejudiced by an investigating officer's knowledge of words indicating documents containing privileged materials exist, with no knowledge of the substantive content of the documents, in the absence of an explicit accompanying finding that

the substance of the materials played no role in that investigator's subsequent investigation?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRETRIAL MOTION, HEARING, AND FINDINGS OF FACT

The defendant was charged with one count of burglary in the first degree for robbing a City of CP 158, 164. Snohomish bank. Prior to trial the defendant brought a "motion to dismiss for violation of attorney client privilege." CP 142-57. The subject of the motion concerned law enforcement's attempts to obtain a handwriting exemplar from the defendant, detained in the Snohomish County Jail, for forensic comparison to a handwritten letter purportedly written by the defendant admitting his own involvement in the crime obtained during the investigation. Id. See also State's Response and Supplemental Response, CP 128-34 and 110-16, respectively. A two-day hearing was held prior to trial

where evidence was presented.¹ The court's written findings and conclusions were entered later. CP 51-57.

The trial court found that the detective assigned to the case, Snohomish Police Department Detective Saarinen, began seeking handwriting samples by first requesting the defendant's "kites" (a handwritten request written by inmates) from the Snohomish County jail. CP 52, 62. When only one document was produced, Detective Saarinen told the jail that she was seeking other handwritten documents. CP 52.

Pavel Ryakhovksy, a corrections deputy at the jail who had been trained regarding the handling of inmate legal documents, searched the defendant's cell for additional handwritten documents. CP 52–53. Inmates at the Snohomish County Jail are provided an inmate

¹ Evidence was presented on November 2 and 3, 2021 with the court's oral ruling entered on November 19, 2021. The reports of proceedings as to these hearings

handbook upon being admitted to the jail that advises them that their cell can be searched once per day. CP 52. The corrections deputy knew that inmate legal documents were usually kept in a manila envelope that was labeled "legal documents." CP 53.

Deputy Ryakhovksy entered the defendant's cell and located several documents on the defendant's desk which were not in a legal-documents envelope and photographed them but did not read them. CP 53. He emailed a total of ten photographs to Detective Saarinen. CP 53; RP 13–14.

The defendant testified at the hearing as well. His testimony contradicted that of Deputy Ryakhovksy. The defendant claimed that he kept all his documents in a big yellow folder on his desk in his cell that was clearly labeled "Legal documents" in "pretty big" writing. RP 109-

are contained in a single volume, referenced herein simply as "RP."

17. The court entered findings, however, that it placed "little weight on that testimony" and that "Corrections Deputy Ryakovksy is credible." RP 53 (FF 25-27).

When Detective Saarinen opened the photographs in her email, she read only the words "the story," "haircut," and "notes about defense" or "notes on defense." CP 54. After reading these words, she became concerned that she was in possession of privileged material, did not further review the photos, and deleted the images. CP 54.

fact. contacted the Detective Saarinen, in prosecutor and the two developed a review-andscreening "filter" plan to ensure that the documents would not be shared with anyone except an officer not involved in any way with the investigation. CP 54. Saarinen asked the corrections deputy to retain the photographed but gave him documents he had instructions to not collect any documents that could

possibly be legal documents. CP 54. The corrections deputy seized five documents that appeared to him to not be privileged. CP 42; RP 12–15.

An uninvolved detective, Dave Bilyeu, of the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office Major Crimes Unit was asked to serve as the uninvolved "filter team" reviewer. CP 55. Detective Bilyeu was instructed to not share the contents or substance of the documents with anyone else including other law enforcement members or members of the prosecutor's office. CP 55. Detective Bilyeu collected the five documents from the corrections deputy. CP 55.

The corrections deputy did not share any of the documents with anyone other than the ten images sent to Detective Saarinen via email and the five original documents delivered to Detective Bilyeu. CP 56. The corrections deputy did not read or disseminate information about the contents or substance of the

documents to anyone, other than those described. CP 56.

The court found Detective Bilyeu reviewed the five documents alone and did not share the documents or contents of the documents with anyone else. CP 56. After his review, Detective Bilyeu was concerned that four of the documents may contain privileged information. CP 56. Detective Bilyeu sealed each document in a separate envelope and provided them to the defendant's attorney and did not retain any copies. CP 56. Defense counsel reviewed these documents and believed three of the documents contained privileged information. CP 56. The court found Detective Bilyeu never communicated the contents of the documents to any other person. CP 56 (FF 64).

B. TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The lower court concluded that the State had infringed on the defendant's Sixth Amendment right. CP

57 (COL 2 and 3). The court then applied a presumption of prejudice, but ruled, in part due to the filter procedure employed, that the State had proved there was no prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 57 (COL 4).

The court's conclusions **do not** include a finding that the State had violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel (or any other right protected by the Sixth Amendment). CP 57.² The court nonetheless ordered a "remedy" and suppressed any documents collected from the defendant's cell and ordered that their contents not be further disseminated to "ensure the defendant's right to a fair trial is maintained." CP 57 (COL 5). The lower court concluded that the State

² The distinction between an *infringement* or *intrusion* into Sixth Amendment protections, and a *violation* of the Sixth Amendment is examined in greater detail infra. To the extent the State's argument on appeal conceded the trial court found a *violation* of the Sixth Amendment, such concession was in error.

had *infringed* on the defendant's Sixth Amendment right.

CP 57 (COL 2 and 3).

C. APPEAL AND PUBLISHED DECISION

Defendant was convicted after trial. CP 23. Defendant appealed, raising assignments of error challenging the trial court's conclusion the State had overcome the presumption of prejudice, and the trial court's denial of his motion to dismiss. BOA at 3-4 (AOE 9-10). Defendant also challenged the trial court's denial of a motion to strike a juror who was later seated. BOA at 4 (AOE 11).

The court overturned the defendant's conviction on Sixth Amendment grounds, finding the issue independently dispositive, and remanded the matter to the trial court to determine if dismissal was required or some lesser sanction to include disqualification of the prosecuting attorney's office and witnesses were

sufficient remedies per State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018). Slip Op. at 26-27.

The appellate court held that the trial court's finding that Deputy Ryakhovksy's act of obtaining the materials from his jail cell did not prejudice the defendant was:

inconsistent with the law as set out in <u>Pena Fuentes</u>, which clearly holds, "State intrusion into those private [attorney client] conversations is a blatant violation of a foundational right." 179 Wn.2d at 811.

Slip Op. at 14.

The appellate court also found that the trial court's finding that Detective Saarinen only saw certain words, even if true, was legally insufficient under <u>Pena Fuentes</u> and <u>Irby</u> to disprove the presumption of prejudice therefrom. Slip Op. at 15.

The appellate court was most troubled, however, with the decision to employ a filter team. The appellate court found employing such a methodology was *ipso facto* "government misconduct." Slip Op. at 16 (Detective

Bilyeu's filer review was in and of itself a "violation of Myer's Sixth Amendment Right to Private Communications with defense counsel." <u>Id.</u>) The opinion expanded on the need for a corrective to deter this per se unlawful practice. Slip Op at 19-20.

V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals as it presents significant questions of law under the State and Federal constitution (RAP 13.4(b)(3)); is in conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014) (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), and the published decision of State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d. 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018) (RAP 13.4(b)(2)); and because it present issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE OPINION'S HOLDING THAT THE USE OF A FILTER TEAM *IPSO FACTO* VIOLATES THE SIXTH AMENDMENT REGARDLESS OF ANY PREJUDICE FINDINGS BY A REVIEWING JUDICIAL OFFICER, AND SUCH A VIOLATION MANDATES THE CONVICTION BE OVERTURNED, CONTRAVENES SIXTH AMENDMENT JURISPRUDENCE.

The legality under the Sixth Amendment of employing a "filter team" methodology appears to be nearly unanimously confirmed across the nation's courts that have examined its inherent dangers.

First, though we have not previously issued any published opinions on point, some of our sister circuits have approved of the use of a walled-off government filter team to review documents for privilege. In United States v. Jarman, 847 F.3d 259 (5th Cir. 2017), for instance, the Fifth Circuit upheld the filter team's screening for privileged materials. Id. at 266. There, the court stated that the filter team process was "designed to protect [the] privileged information." Id. The Second, Third, Fourth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth and Tenth Circuits, in at least some cases, have also either approved of or recognized and declined to criticize the use of government filter teams to screen materials for privilege before items are released to the investigators in the case. See, e.g., S.E.C. v. Rajaratnam, 622 F.3d

159, 183 & n.24 (2d Cir. 2010); [In re Search of Electronic Communications, 802 F.3d 516, 530 (3rd. Cir. 2015)]; United States v. Myers, 593 F.3d 338, 341 n.5 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Proano, 912 F.3d 431, 437 (7th Cir. 2019); United States v. Howard, 540 F.3d 905, 906 (8th Cir. 2008); United States v. Christensen, 828 F.3d 763, 799 (9th Cir. 2015); United States v. Ary, 518 F.3d 775, 780 (10th Cir. 2008).

Second, the Intervenors cite no cases for the broad remedy they seek: a holding that government agents "should never ... review documents that are designated by their possessors as attorney-client or work product privileged" until after a court has ruled on the privilege assertion." Nor has our research unearthed any.

In re Sealed Search Warrant & Application for a Warrant by Tel. or Other Reliable Elec. Means, 11 F.4th 1235, 1249–50 (11th Cir. 2021), cert. denied sub nom. Korf v. United States, 143 S. Ct. 88, 214 L. Ed. 2d 15 (2022). But see In re Search Warrant Issued June 13, 2019, 942 F.3d 159, 164-67 (4th Cir. 2019) (holding filter team was inadequate to protect "foundational principals that protect attorney-client relationships" in the context of "voluminous"

materials" seized from a law firm pursuant to a warrant that included "extensive" emails not involving the client-subject of the search warrant, but other legal clients who were the subject of separate investigations or prosecutions.).

Indeed, courts have widely recognized the use of a filter team assists in protecting a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. "[The use of a filter team] to sift the wheat from the chaff constitutes an action respectful of, rather than injurious to, the protection of the privilege." United States v. Avenatti, 559 F.Supp.3d 274, 282 (S.D.N.Y. 2021) (quoting In re Grand Jury Subpoenas, 454 F.3d 511, 522-23 (6th Cir. 2006)); see also United States v. Scarfo, 41 F.4th 136, 173 (3rd Cir. 2022), Jarman, 847 F.3d at 266. Such a system has the additional benefit of also avoiding needless burden on judicial resources.

Indeed, if "taken to its logical conclusion," Ritchey's argument would require "a judicial officer to conduct the initial review of almost any communications seized pursuant to a because, theory, warrant in 9014 (2) could contain privileged communications information[;]" this would place an "intolerable" burden on the Court. Ultimately, to the extent that Ritchey believes that filter teams are Court categorically unconstitutional. the rejects this argument.

United States v. Ritchey, 605 F. Supp. 3d 891, 898 (S.D. Miss. 2022) (quoting Avenatti, 559 F. Supp. 3d at 282).

None of the above is to say that the judiciary has no role in protecting a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. A defendant is not obliged to simply accept the State's word that the filter team methodology accurately sifted the materials and that no privileged information passed to or influenced the investigation of the defendant's crime or its prosecution. In Washington State, upon the defendant's motion, the State is obliged to prove this to the satisfaction of a judicial officer beyond a reasonable

doubt. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 819; Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 263.

Such a motion was pursued here pretrial and the Court found no prejudice was suffered by the defendant. There is nothing shocking to the conscience in the practice employed here, or that otherwise rendered the "filter team's" intrusion into the protected materials as unjustified, so to warrant dismissal, as was necessary for deterrence purposes in State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 377-79, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). See Slip Op. at 23. In that matter, the Court examined a scenario wherein law enforcement had installed a hidden microphone inside a room provided to inmates to converse with their attorney and recorded the defendant's conversations with his counsel. A comparison between the use of a filter team to the unjustifiable practices as in Cory is inapt. Deterring sanctions and dismissal are not appropriate absent such shocking, unjustifiable conduct:

Sixth Amendment remedies should "tailored to the injury suffered from the and constitutional violation should not infringe competing unnecessarily on interests." United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 364, 101 S.Ct. 665, 66 L.Ed.2d 564 (1981). Thus, a remedy must "neutralize the taint" of a constitutional violation, id., at 365, 101 S.Ct. 665, while at the same time not grant a windfall to the defendant or needlessly squander the considerable resources the State properly invested in the criminal prosecution, see [United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 72, 106 S.Ct. 938, 942, 89 L.ed.2d 50 (1986)] ("The reversal of a conviction entails substantial social costs: it jurors. witnesses, courts. forces prosecution, and the defendants to expend further time, energy, and other resources to repeat a trial that has already once taken place[.]).

<u>Lafler v. Cooper</u>, 566 U.S. 156, 170, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1388–89, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012).

The Court of Appeals filter team decision appears to also be grounded on separate but interrelated additional extensions of Sixth Amendment jurisprudence unknown to Washington: (1) that there is such a thing as an ipso facto Sixth Amendment violation irrespective of prejudice

examination and (2) conflation of a *violation* of the Sixth Amendment with any action that *infringes* or *intrudes* on Sixth Amendment protections.

As to (1), Cory, decided in 1963, examined a situation that can only be said to have involved truly It is plainly nefarious actions by State actors. that the decision involved little understandable examination of any actual prejudice suffered by the defendant. A different standard has emerged in jurisprudence for non-nefarious state intrusions onto Sixth Amendment protections since that date starting with the United States Supreme Court case of seminal Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 97 S.Ct. 837, 51 There, an undercover officer L.Ed.2d 30 (1977). intentionally took part in two meetings with the defendant and his attorney as to their trial preparation and strategy, doing so at the initiative of the defendant, never revealing his law enforcement status to them. Id. at 547-49. The

Fourth Circuit found this was a *per se* violation of his right to effective assistance of counsel, and it was immaterial that the law enforcement agent had informed no one else as to what was said or done at the meetings, and retrial was therefore required. <u>Id.</u> at 549-50.

The Supreme Court explicitly rejected the Fourth Circuit's per se rule. The court affirmed that the right that the Sixth Amendment protects is the right to effective assistance of counsel but held that there can be no violation of the Sixth Amendment right absent a showing of prejudice to the defendant. In other words, a Sixth Amendment violation can only occur where there is prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the State's intrusion.

[U]nless [the law enforcement agent] communicated the substance of the ... conversations and thereby created at least a realistic possibility of injury to the [defendant] or benefit to the State, there can be no Sixth Amendment violation.

<u>Id.</u> at 558.

Other courts have found the same distinction between an intrusion into attorney-client protections, and a Sixth Amendment violation with the latter occurring only when there is actual prejudice resulting from the former:

From Weatherford and [State v. Glover, 596 F.2d 857 (9th Cir. 1979) and the cases they interpret, it is apparent that mere government intrusion into the attorney-client relationship, although not condoned by the court, is not of itself violative of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Rather, the right is only violated when the intrusion substantially prejudices the defendant.

<u>United States v. Irwin</u>, 612 F.2d 1182, 1186–87 (9th Cir. 1980); <u>see also State v. Robins</u>, 431 P.3d 260, 265 (Idaho 2018) (quoting same).

The Washington State Supreme Court, subsequent to <u>Cory</u>, has examined and endorsed the <u>Weatherford</u> standard rejected of a per se rule:

The United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected a per se prejudice rule for such eavesdropping, holding that when an

eavesdropper did not communicate the topic of the overheard conversations and thereby create "at least a realistic possibility of injury to [the defendant] or benefit to the State, there can be no Sixth Amendment violation." Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 557–58, 97 S.Ct. 837, 51 L.Ed.2d 30 (1977) (reviewing a case where an undercover agent sat in on a meeting between defendant and counsel but did not communicate anything about the meeting to anyone else). The United States Supreme Court's reasoning is sound, and we agree with it.

Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 819 (emphasis added).

In this sense, the Sixth Amendment's protection of the right to effective counsel wherein a State actor has intruded or infringed on the attorney-client relationship is the same as in the context of deficient representation. There is no violation of the Sixth Amendment's right to effective counsel absent prejudice due the intrusion/deficient representation. Compare Weatherford, Pena Fuentes, supra, with Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674

(1984) and <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Washington State, however, employs a standard wherein, in the context of State intrusions, there is a rebuttable presumption of prejudice once an intrusion is shown. In Pena Fuentes, a detective involved in the criminal investigation of the defendant listened to the defendant's jail calls including calls between the defendant and his attorney. The defendant moved to dismiss. The trial court denied the motion. Separate from the requirement of prejudice before the Sixth Amendment is violated as above, this Court additionally announced a standard wherein prejudice was to be presumed but could be rebutted by the State with proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

[W]e hold that eavesdropping is presumed to cause prejudice to the defendant unless the State can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the eavesdropping did not result in any such prejudice. In this case, the record does

not provide enough information to make this determination, and we remand for additional discovery.

<u>Id.</u> at 812.

This same no-Sixth-Amendment-violation-absent-prejudice principal underlies the multi-part test later announced by Division One in State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d. 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018). There the Court of Appeals announced a three-part test to employ to determine if there was a Sixth amendment violation

This matter involves an alleged deprivation of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right. U.S. Const. amend. VI. In order to determine whether such a deprivation occurred—and whether a remedy must issue—the inquiry proceeds as follows:

- 1. Did a state actor participate in the infringing conduct alleged by the defendant?
- 2. If so, did the state actor(s) infringe on a Sixth Amendment right of the defendant?
- 3. If so, was there prejudice to the defendant? That is, did the State fail to overcome the presumption of prejudice arising from the

infringement by not proving the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt?

Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 252-53.

The court, in a footnote, repeated the prongs above and emphasized, per prong 3 above, there was no Sixth Amendment violation absent prejudice from the infringement/intrusion.

By contrast, when no State actor was involved in the alleged conduct, no State actor Infringed upon a Sixth Amendment right, or no prejudice to the defendant arose from the infringement, a defendant has not been deprived of a Sixth Amendment right and no remedy need be applied.

Id. at 253 fn.3 (emphasis added).

An additional fourth prong was provided in <u>Irby</u> to assist in deciding the appropriate remedy *if there was a Sixth Amendment violation*, a remedy dependent on the prejudice to the defendants due process *right to a fair trial* caused by the Sixth Amendment violation (previously

found) and the degree of nefariousness by the State actors involved.

4. If [there is a violation of the Sixth Amendment], what is the appropriate remedy to select and apply, considering the totality of the circumstances present, including the degree of prejudice to the defendant's right to a fair trial and the degree of nefariousness of the conduct by the state actor(s)?

<u>Id.</u> at 253.

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