FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/5/2023 3:56 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1023511 (Court of Appeals No. 83588-2-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ADAM MYERS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 jan@washapp.org

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. The State commits misconduct
2. The State commits further misconduct
3. The trial court erroneously finds the State proved Mr. Myers was not prejudiced by the misconduct; however, the Court of Appeals correctly reverses Mr. Myers's conviction in a published decision
D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 8
1. The Court of Appeals opinion is consistent with this Court's decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals
2. The State fails to satisfy any other criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)
E. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963))7, 11	
<u>State v. Peña Fuentes</u> , 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014)7, 8, 9	
Washington Court of Appeals	
State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.2d 868 (2000)	
State v. Granacki, 90 Wn. App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998) 7	
State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018) 7, 10	
United States Constitution	
U.S. Const. amend. VI	
Rules	
CrR 8.3(b)	
RAP 13.4(b)	
RAP 18.17	

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND DECISION BELOW

Respondent Adam Myers requests this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals published decision in <u>State v. Myers</u>, No. 83588-2-I (August 7, 2023).

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A defendant's right to the assistance of counsel includes the right to confer privately with their attorney. The prejudice from violating the attorney-client relationship can arise from the State's use of confidential information, or from simply undermining the defendant's confidence in that critical privileged relationship. Where the prosecutor's office and other state actors engaged in misconduct infringing on Mr. Myers's privileged attorney-client communications, the trial court misapplied the law, denying Myers's motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3. The Court of Appeals reversed in a published decision, finding the trial court's ruling would not "dissuade...the prosecutor's office from repeating this conduct in the future."

Should this Court deny review where the Court of Appeals applied the correct legal standard, understood the facts in the record, and issued a decision consistent with this Court's prior decisions, including Cory and Peña Fuentes, involving governmental misconduct and the Sixth Amendment right to counsel under the Washington and United States Constitutions?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Myers with one count of robbery in the first degree after an alleged theft of just over \$700 from a Wells Fargo bank in Snohomish. CP 164.

Before trial, Mr. Myers moved to dismiss under CrR 8.3 due to governmental misconduct after the State's seizure of privileged attorney-client communications from Mr. Myers's jail cell. CP 142-57; 11/2/21 RP 119-29. The trial court held a hearing on the motion to dismiss in early November 2021, and

¹ The report of proceedings from the CrR 8.3 hearing is cited as "11/2/21 RP." The rest of the trial is cited as "RP."

found the State's actions had infringed on Mr. Myers's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. CP 57 (COL 3); 11/2/21 RP 160.

1. The State commits misconduct

The trial court found that while Mr. Myers was being held in Snohomish County Jail, he wrote letters to his former landlord, explaining he robbed the Snohomish bank under duress. CP 129; 11/2/21 RP 149-50. After lead Detective Saarinen obtained the letters, she decided to seek a handwriting sample from Mr. Myers to match the letters from jail. CP 129; CP 145; 11/2/21 RP 149-50.

Detective Saarinen asked the Snohomish County Jail to obtain a sample of Mr. Myers's handwriting by searching his cell. 11/2/21 RP 150-51; CP 144. Jail Officer Ryakhovskiy searched Mr. Myers's cell in September 2021 while Myers was in the yard on "recreational time." 11/2/21 RP 151. Officer Ryakhovskiy located ten documents in Mr. Myers's cell and photographed them. 11/2/21 RP 152-53. Officer Ryakhovskiy transmitted the photographic files to Detective Saarinen, who

curiously admitted to reading some of the words contained in the documents, but claimed she did not read the documents themselves. 11/2/21 RP 76-78, 153. The detective admitted she saw the words – "The Story," "not believed," and "notes about defense." 11/2/21 RP 79, 153.

Based on her review, Detective Saarinen was "extremely alarmed" that the seized documents were privileged. 11/2/21 RP 79, 153. Rather than turn the documents over to defense counsel or a neutral arbiter, Detective Saarinen called the deputy prosecutor to inform him of her concerns. Id. at 79, 154. The detective felt so alarmed about the privileged documents that she immediately deleted the files she received from the jail and emptied her computer's recycle bin. Id. at 80.

2. The State commits further misconduct

The assigned deputy prosecutor asked Detective Saarinen not to share the contents of the privileged documents with him, or with anyone else. <u>Id</u>. at 80-81. Yet rather than ask a neutral party, such as a judicial officer, to review the documents, the

deputy prosecutor passed the privileged documents to yet another state actor. <u>Id</u>. at 81, 154. The prosecutor divulged Mr. Myers's seized, privileged documents to an "uninvolved detective" from another unit – Detective Dave Bilyeu of the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office Major Crimes Unit.

Detective Bilyeu retrieved the privileged documents from the jail officer and reviewed them. <u>Id</u>. at 81, 154. Bilyeu determined that four out of five documents contained privileged attorney-client communications. 11/2/21 RP 155-56.

Only at this point did the State notify Mr. Myers's attorney and provide her with the seized privileged materials. 11/2/21 RP 157. Mr. Myers promptly moved to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) for the violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. CP 142-57.

3. The trial court erroneously finds the State proved Mr. Myers was not prejudiced by the misconduct; however, the Court of Appeals correctly reverses Mr. Myers's conviction in a published decision.

The trial court agreed the State's conduct was not "proper." 11/2/21 RP 167-68. Yet the court incorrectly determined the conduct "does not rise to the level of egregiousness where prejudice should be presumed." 11/2/21 RP 167-68. The trial court denied Mr. Myers's motion to dismiss, instead ordering the lesser remedy of suppression of the seized materials. <u>Id</u>. 11/2/21 RP 167-68, 170-71.

The trial court was wrong, and as the Court of Appeals held, the court was required to hold the State to its burden to disprove any prejudice to Myers beyond a reasonable doubt.

Slip op. at 14. The record establishes the trial court applied an improper standard. Slip op. at 14.

The trial court applied the lesser remedy of suppression of Mr. Myers's seized documents, which as the Court of Appeals found, "does nothing more than affirm the existing

state of the law with regard to the seized documents or information contained therein." Slip op. at 25 (noting the documents were already inadmissible as privileged attorney-client communications).

The Court of Appeals properly reversed Mr. Myers's conviction in a published rebuke of the governmental misconduct committed by several branches of state actors. The Court relied on this Court's case law (<u>Peña Fuentes</u> and <u>Cory</u>), and its own case law, <u>State v. Irby</u>, <u>State v. Garza</u>, and <u>State v. Granacki</u>. Slip op. at 11, 12, 14, 25.²

The Court of Appeals denied the State's motion for reconsideration, instead, issuing a substituted opinion which clarified its holding on remedy. Slip op. at 25-26.

^{State v. Peña Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014); State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963); State v. Irby, 3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018); State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.2d 868 (2000); State v. Granacki, 90 Wn. App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998).}

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

In its attempt to obtain this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b), the State desperately claims its petition satisfies each of the four considerations governing review under the Rule.

Petition for Review at 12. The State fails to meet the criteria of even one of the subsections of RAP 13.4(b), and for this reason, this Court should deny review.

1. The Court of Appeals opinion is consistent with this Court's decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals, quoting this Court's decision in Peña Fuentes, held, "The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to assistance of counsel, which includes the right to confer privately with ... counsel." 179
Wn.2d at 811 (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI). "State intrusion into those private conversations is a blatant violation of a foundational right." Id.

The State now claims that the Court of Appeals decision is grounded on an "extension of Sixth Amendment of

jurisprudence unknown to Washington." Petition for Review at 18.

The State next argues that the Court of Appeals recognizes "such a thing as an ipso facto Sixth Amendment violation irrespective of prejudice examination." Petition for Review at 18-19. The State's argument is not aligned with, nor is it supported by, the Court of Appeals decision.

The State attempts to portray the opinion in Mr. Myers's case as in conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Peña Fuentes</u>.

Petition for Review at 21-22 (quoting 179 Wn.2d at 819). The State endeavors to create conflict where there is none. The Court of Appeals endorsed <u>Peña Fuentes</u> – it did not conflict with it. In <u>Myers</u>, the Court of Appeals never advocated for a per se prejudice rule; the Court merely held the trial court must use the proper standard of review when reviewing misconduct, as stated this Court in Peña Fuentes. Slip op. at 14.

The Court of Appeals clearly held: "the trial court misapplied controlling law as to the presumption of prejudice

and issued findings contrary to the law and evidence." The State is disingenuous when it argues the Court of Appeals extends Sixth Amendment jurisprudence in a novel manner. Petition for Review at 18. Review should be denied.

The State next suggests the Court of Appeals contradicted its own holding in State v. Irby. Petition for Review at 28-30. Although the State's precise argument as to Irby is unclear, the State seems to take issue with the Court of Appeals decision stating that the State's seizure of Mr. Myers's privileged legal materials constitutes a violation of a foundational right under Peña Fuentes. Petition for Review at 31. Again, without further development of the State's argument, it is difficult to respond; however, the Court of Appeals opinion clearly was aligned with and relied on its own decision in Irby. Slip op. at 14, 15, 17, 25. The State's attempt to create conflict should be seen for what it is. The petition should be denied.

2. The State fails to satisfy any other criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Finally, the State asserts review is warranted for other reasons applicable under RAP 13.4(b), but does not provide argument relevant to this case. The State argues that unlike in State v. Cory, where there was nefarious eavesdropping that was "shocking to the conscience," no such conduct occurred in Mr. Myers's case, so dismissal is "not appropriate absent such shocking, unjustifiable conduct." Petition for Review at 17 (citing 62 Wn.2d 371, 377-79, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963)).

This is not the law. In Washington, where there is a state intrusion into privileged attorney-client communications, the court *presumes prejudice*, as even the State acknowledges.

Petition for Review at 23. The Court of Appeals found the trial court failed to apply the correct standard, and the remedy the court imposed was "woefully inadequate." Slip op. at 25.

The court's remedy of suppression, after all, only suppressed documents that were already inadmissible.

Ordering government actors to not disseminate information intercepted in violation of the Sixth Amendment is simply a command to follow rules by which they are already bound and, more critically, that they have already violated. This is no sanction at all on the government actors, who appear to have genuinely believed that their conduct was wholly appropriate, so there is no discouragement from engaging in similar behavior in the future.

Slip op. at 25.

Contrary to the State's argument, the Court of Appeals explicitly stated that the prosecutor's "institutionalized" use of an internal review team³ "fails to recognize, much less honor, the unique nature of this constitutionally protected [attorney-client] relationship." Slip op. at 19. The Court of Appeals found this practice impermissible and emphasized that the trial court minimized this and other misconduct of the prosecutor's office, thereby establishing the trial court's misapplication of controlling authority. Slip op. at 20.

³ The internal team was called a "taint team" by the State at argument. Slip op. at 19.

This Court should squarely reject the State's petition for review. The State is clearly disappointed with the Court of Appeals decision, but there is simply no conflict requiring this Court's clarification on Sixth Amendment jurisprudence.

E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied existing case law to the facts in Mr. Myers's case and found outrageous governmental misconduct required reversal. This Court should deny review.